IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA, )  
 )  
 Plaintiff-Appellee, )  
 )  
 v. ) S.CT. NO. 19-0453  
 )  
 ETHAN L. DAVIS, )  
 )  
 Defendant-Appellant. )

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR APPANOOSE COUNTY  
HONORABLE MYRON L. GOOKIN, JUDGE (JURY TRIAL &  
SENTENCING)

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT  
AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

MARTHA J. LUCEY  
State Appellate Defender

VIDHYA K. REDDY  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
vreddy@spd.state.ia.us  
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE  
Fourth Floor Lucas Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### I. Whether the evidence was insufficient to establish Davis's identity as the perpetrator?

#### Authorities

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Petithory, 702 N.W.2d 854, 856 (Iowa 2005)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Schories, 827 N.W.2d 659, 664 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998)

State v. LeGear, 346 N.W.2d 21, 23 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618–619 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p)

State v. Clarke, 475 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 1991)

Richard Lempert, *Some Caveats Concerning DNA As A Criminal Identification Evidence: With Thanks to the Reverend Bayes*, 13 CARDOZO L. REV. 303, 316, n. 34 (1991)

Gregory Simon, *Is Identity Enough to Convict?: An Analytic Framework to Determine Whether the Mere Presence of DNA Is Sufficient Evidence to Infer Guilt Beyond A Reasonable Doubt*, 36 WHITTIER L. REV. 371, 372 (2015)

People v. Arevalo, No. G047523, 2014 WL 1435071, \*1 (Cal. Ct. App. 2014)

**II. Whether the district court erred in submitting the old model instruction on reasonable doubt (the Frei instruction) over Davis’s request for the current model instruction containing additional “hesitate to act” language?**

**Authorities**

State v. Frei, 831 N.W.2d 70, 75 (Iowa 2013)

Alcala v. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 811, 816 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 633 & n.6 (Iowa 2019)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970)

State v. Parkin, 299 N.W. 917, 919 (Iowa 1941)

State v. Tabor, No. 10-0475, 2011 WL 238427, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 20, 2011)

Stringer v. State, 522 N.W.2d 797, 800 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Criminal Jury Instruct. 100.10 (June 2007, June 2009, June 2019)

**1). *Error:***

State v. Mitchell, 568 N.W.2d 493, 501 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135, 143 (Iowa 2012) (overruled on unrelated grounds by Alcala, 880 N.W.2d at 708)

State v. Brown, 172 N.W.2d 152, 160 (Iowa 1969)

Porter v. Iowa Power & Light, 217 N.W.2d 221, 234 (Iowa 1974)

Sergeant v. Challis, 238 N.W. 442, 446 (Iowa 1931)

***a) Correct Statement of Law:***

Robert R. Rigg, *Proof Beyond a Reasonable Doubt: Jury Instructions*

4 Iowa Prac., Crim. L. § 1:4 (2017-2018 ed.)

Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 20-21 (1994))

State v. Tabor, No. 10-0475, 2011 WL 238427, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 20, 2011)

R. Jason Richards, *Reasonable Doubt: An Overview and Examination of Jury Instructions in Colorado*, Colo. Law., August 2004, at 85, 86

State v. Pierce, 65 Iowa 85, 197-98 (1884)

State v. McGranhan, 206 N.W.2d 88, 91 (Iowa 1973)

State v. McFarland, 287 N.W.2d 162, 163 (Iowa 1980)

***b). Provided amplified or more detailed explanation:***

*Acquitting the Guilty: Two Case Studies on Jury Misgivings and the Misunderstood Standard of Proof*, 2 Crim.L.F. 1, 38 (1990)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 561 (Iowa 2015)

Darryl K. Brown, *Regulating Decision Effects of Legally Sufficient Jury Instructions*, 73 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1105, 1113 (2000)

Wright v. U.S., 588 A.2d 260, at 262 (D.C. Cir. 1991)

State v. Kimball, 176 N.W.2d 864, 869 (Iowa 1970)

In re Det. of Spears, No. 07-1601, 2009 WL 1066769, \*5 (Iowa Ct. App. April 22, 2009)

State v. Gathercole, 877 N.W.2d 421, 433 (Iowa 2016)

Porter v. Iowa Power & Light, 217 N.W.2d 221, 234-35 (Iowa 1974)

Sergeant v. Challis, 238 N.W. 442, 446 (Iowa 1931)

***c). Erroneous whether reviewed for errors at law or for abuse of discretion:***

Porter v. Iowa Power & Light, 217 N.W.2d 221, 234 (Iowa 1974)

Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 811, 816 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 633 & n.6 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Pierce, 65 Iowa 85, 197-98 (1884)

State v. McGranhan, 206 N.W.2d 88, 91 (Iowa 1973)

**2) The error was not harmless:**

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550 (Iowa 2010)

Darryl K. Brown, *Regulating Decision Effects of Legally Sufficient Jury Instructions*, 73 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1105, 1110-13 (2000)

**III. Whether the district court erred in preventing Davis from using “hesitate to act” language in urging the jury to find reasonable doubt during closing argument?**

**Authorities**

State v. Melk, 543 N.W.2d 297, 301 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Simpson, 528 N.W.2d 627, 632 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Marsh, 392 N.W.2d 132, 134 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Gillespie, 163 N.W.2d 922, 927 (Iowa 1969)

Burnett v. State, No. 14–1128, 2016 WL 530130, \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 10, 2016)

**IV. Whether the district court erred in giving the deadlocked jury a supplemental verdict-urging instruction, rather than following Davis’s request for the procedure State v. Campbell holds should be “closely follow[ed]” in Iowa?**

**Authorities**

Alcala v. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 707 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 633 & n.6 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Campbell, 294 N.W.2d 803, 809 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550-51 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Parmer, No.13-2033, 2015 WL 2393652, at \*6 (Iowa Ct. App. May 20, 2015)

***1). Psychological Research Confirming Coercive Impact of Supplemental Verdict-Urging Instructions***

United States v. Bailey, 468 F.2d 652, 666 (5th Cir. 1972), modified on reh’g, 480 F.2d 518 (5th Cir. 1973)

Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896)

State v. Czachor, 413 A.2d 593, 595-96 (N.J. 1980)

State v. Voeckell, 210 P.2d 972, 980 (1949)

Samantha P. Bateman, *Blast It All: Allen Charges and the Dangers of Playing With Dynamite*, 32 U. Haw. L. Rev. 323, 333-41 (2010)

United States v. Fioravanti, 412 F.2d 407, 419-420 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1969)



State v. Thomas, 342 P.2d 197, 200 (Ariz. 1959)

State v. Flint, 761 P.2d 1158, 1164 (Idaho 1988)

Com. v. Spencer, 275 A.2d 299, 303-304 (Pa. 1971)

George C. Thomas III & Mark Greenbaum, *Justice Story Cuts the Gordian Knot of Hung Jury Instructions*, 15 Wm. & Mary Bill Rts. J. 893, 910-20 (2007)

## **2). Iowa Caselaw:**

State v. Campbell, 294 N.W.2d 803, 811 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Quitt, 204 N.W.2d 913, 914 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 912 (Iowa 2003)

Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988)) (overruled on unrelated grounds by Hanes, 790 N.W.2d at 552)

State v. Peirce, 159 N.W. 1050, 1053–54 (Iowa 1916)

State v. McLaughlin, 94 N.W.2d 303, 310 (Iowa 1959)

Ryan v. Arneson, 422 N.W.2d 491, 495 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Terrill, 241 N.W.2d 16 (Iowa 1978)

Middle States Utilities Co. v. Inc. Tel. Co., 271 N.W. 180, 184-85 (1937)

ISBA, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 100.18

State v. Hackett, 200 N.W.2d 493, 496 (Iowa 1972)

### **3). Application of Principles to Present Case:**

#### **i). Error:**

State v. Peirce, 159 N.W. 1050, 1055 (Iowa 1916) (partially overruled on unrelated grounds by State v. McLaughlin, 94 N.W.2d 303, 310 (Iowa 1959))

State v. Power, No.13-0052, 2014 WL 2600214, at \*4-5 (Iowa Ct. App. June 11, 2014)

#### **ii). Prejudice:**

State v. Peirce, 159 N.W. 1050, 1054 (Iowa 1916) (partially overruled on unrelated grounds by State v. McLaughlin, 94 N.W.2d 303, 310 (Iowa 1959))

State v. Campbell, 294 N.W.2d 803, 810-11 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550-51 (Iowa 2010)

Samantha P. Bateman, *Blast It All: Allen Charges and the Dangers of Playing With Dynamite*, 32 U. Haw. L. Rev. 323 (2010)

Armstrong v. James & Co., 136 N.W. 686, 688 (Iowa 1912)

State v. Mulhollen, 155 N.W. 252, 254 (Iowa 1915)

38 A.L.R.3d 1281, §8(b)

41 A.L.R.3d 1154, §§ 7b, 8b, 9a, 10

Middle States Utilities Co. v. Inc. Tel. Co., 271 N.W. 180, 184 (1937)

Middle States Utilities, 271 N.W.2d at 184

State v. Piper, 663 N.W.2d 894, 911-12 (Iowa 2003)

Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988)

**V. Whether the State impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the Defendant?**

**Authorities**

State v. Lopez, No. 16-1489, 2018 WL 6719728, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 19, 2018)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 134 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 556 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Jarrett, No.17-0091, 2018 WL 1099268, at \*8 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2018)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860, 869 (Iowa 2003)

**VI. Whether a nunc pro tunc order is necessary to bring the written sentencing order into conformance with the court's oral pronouncement concerning restitution for court costs and attorney fees?**

**Authorities**

State v. Jose, 636 N.W.2d 38, 44 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Lathrop, 781 N.W.2d 288, 292-93 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2017)

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144, 160-162 (Iowa 2019)

State v. McMurry, 925 N.W.2d 592, 596 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 910.7A

State v. Sisk, 577 N.W.2d 414, 416 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hess, 533 N.W.2d 525, 527-529 (Iowa 1995)

## ROUTING STATEMENT

Under Division II, guidance is requested on how trial courts should elect between two *equally correct* instructions on reasonable doubt. In Frei this Court held the ‘firmly convinced’ language of the old December 2006 model instruction is *one* legally correct formulation, but that defendants remained free to request other equally correct formulations. State v. Frei, 831 N.W.2d 70, 79 n.7 (Iowa 2013). Davis requests the Court now (1) confirm the current model instruction (containing additional ‘hesitate to act’ language) is an *equally correct* formulation; and (2) hold non-constitutional instructional error inhered where the trial court refused to honor Davis’s timely request for the amplified language. See Porter v. Iowa Power & Light, 217 N.W.2d 221, 234-35 (Iowa 1974); Sergeant v. Challis, 238 N.W. 442, 446 (Iowa 1931) (timely request for amplified language must be honored). Clarification is also needed on (3) whether such choice of instruction is reviewed for errors at law or instead

involves a discretionary component. See Alcala v. Marriott Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 707 (Iowa 2016).

Under Division IV, Davis claims the district court erred in submitting the deadlocked jury a further verdict-urging instruction over his request to simply direct them to reread the instructions given and continue deliberations – the course State v. Campbell, 294 N.W.2d 803, 814 (Iowa 1980) said should be “closely follow[ed]” in Iowa. Guidance is also needed on the question of how prejudice should be evaluated in such circumstance. Davis argues that, as with other preserved instructional errors, the burden should be on the State to prove harmlessness. No published Iowa decision appears to address the situation where the verdict-urging instruction was submitted over a defendant’s request for the Campbell procedure.

Retention is appropriate to address these substantial issues of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**Nature of the Case:** This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant, Ethan Davis, from his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a jury trial for Murder in the First Degree.

**Course of Proceedings:** On December 5, 2017, the State charged Davis with Murder in the First Degree, a Class A Felony in violation of Iowa Code section 707.2(1)(A) (2017). (Complaint; TI) (Conf.App. pp.4-5; App. pp.4-5).

A jury trial commenced February 5, 2019. (2/5/19\_Tr.1:1-2:10). The dispute at trial centered on whether the State had met its burden of proof on the identity element. (2/14/19\_Tr.14-15, 36:7-9, 37:22-38:2). Davis and the victim were wholly unknown to one another. A rifle owned and previously operated by Davis was apparently used in the shooting, and his fingerprints (in addition to an unidentified fingerprint or DNA profile belonging to at least one unknown third-party) were located on the rifle and on ammunition located near the crime scene.

(1/12/19\_Tr.21:16-22:12, 24:15-24, 30:2-14, 50:1-52:12,

58:15-19, 12821:2-129:5, 136:17-23, 137:25-16, 140:2-19, 157:14-158:5, 163:9-20). However, Davis insisted he had not wielded these items at the time of the murder, testifying they'd been stolen from his vehicle prior to the weekend of Ross's death. (2/13/19\_Tr.70:6-13, 93:24-94:20, 101:9-103:25, 109:3-110:25, 115:1-119:18, 130:12-131:16, 135:10-136:21).

At trial, Davis objected to the reasonable doubt jury instruction. (2/5/19\_Tr. 9:15-11:10, 37:5-16; 2/13/19\_Tr. 143:12-144:14); (Prelim.Instruct.2; Final Instruct.7) (App. pp.6-7). The court sustained the State's objection to Davis's use of 'hesitate to act' language during closing argument. (2/14/19\_Tr.53:9-24). Additionally, Davis objected to burden-shifting by the State, and the court overruled the objections. (2/12/19\_Tr.57:22-58:7; 2/14/19\_Tr.57:8-58:9).

The case was submitted to the jury on February 14, 2019. During its second day of deliberations, the jury indicated it was deadlocked. The court, over Davis's objection, responded by giving the jury an additional verdict-urging instruction.



Thereafter, the jury returned a February 15 verdict of guilt. (2/14/19\_Tr.78:18-80:4; 2/15/19\_Tr.3:1-7:22).

Davis filed Motion in Arrest of Judgment and for New Trial arguing: (1) the evidence was insufficient to support Davis's identity as the perpetrator; (2) the court erred in denying Davis's request for the current ISBA-approved model instruction on reasonable doubt, and in sustaining the State's objection to use of 'hesitate to act' language during Davis's closing argument; and (3) the court erred in issuing a verdict-urging instruction to the jury after it indicated it was deadlocked. (3/8/19 Def.Motion) (App. pp.10-12). The State resisted and, the court denied the motion. (3/15/19 Resist.) (App. pp.13-16) (Sent.Tr.2:16-6:15). The court entered judgment against Davis, sentencing him to life in prison without the possibility of parole. (Sent.Tr.14:18-15:9); (Judgment) (App. pp.17-25).

Davis filed a timely notice of appeal. (NOA) (App. p.26).

**Facts:** On Friday, November 24, 2017, between 10:00am and 1:30pm, Curtis Ross set out to bow hunt the Sandy

Branch area of Rathbun Lake. (2/6/19\_Tr.183:18-184:4  
186:6-187:1, 196:12-199:1). After a Snapchat exchange with  
a friend at 1:30pm, none of Ross's friends or family were able  
to make any further contact with him. (2/6/19\_Tr.218:4-  
221:2; 2/8/19\_Tr.107:9-108:4; 2/12/19\_Tr.99:1-100:11,  
122:9-11). At 1:00a.m. on Saturday, November 25, his friend  
reported him missing to law enforcement. A search  
commenced, and shortly after daybreak, law enforcement  
discovered Ross's naked body submerged in a creek. He had  
at least 10 gunshot wounds, 5 incise wounds, and 26 stab  
wounds—many of them more than 5 or 6 inches deep.  
(2/8/19\_Tr.11:21-21:16, 23:25-25:16, 45:5-25, 50:1-24;  
2/12/19\_Tr.193:11-194:12,199:17-21, 204:1-6).

The Sandy Beach hunting ground is situated near the  
Appanoose/Wayne County line and is open to the public. It is  
a popular area for recreation in the fall, and Ross had  
previously talked about running into people there. His body  
was found on the Appanoose side of the county line.

Northeast of the public hunting ground is private property

owned by L&W Quarry, and southwest of the public hunting ground is a private Wayne County farm property belonging to the parents of Defendant Ethan Davis. (2/6/19\_Tr.210:22-211:5, 2/8/19\_Tr.13:6-14:3,109:8-17, 150:11-24, 177:9-23; 2/11/19\_Tr.6:17-9:5; 2/13/19\_Tr.12:9-13:6, 21:15-21); (Exhib.5-6) (Ex. App. pp.7-8).

In November 2017, Davis resided at the family farm with his parents, Jamison and Tammy, and his brother, Evan. (2/13/19\_Tr. 59:22-60:5). On the day Ross went missing, Davis “went and got his kid out of a crack house” in Seymour, Iowa, where his ex-girlfriend Shayla Stevens’ new boyfriend lived. Davis had been carrying a licensed 9mm handgun, and while at the “crack house,” he “fired a round in the air, grabbed his kid, and left.” (2/11/19\_Tr.61:23-62:25, 133:2-6; 2/13/19\_Tr.13:7-13, 24:21-24, 61:6-17, 63:8-14, 67:8-16, 72:8-16, 74:17-18). After Stevens called 911 at 11:42a.m., law enforcement was on the lookout for Davis’s vehicle – a distinctive orange Hummer with a very loud muffler and a missing rear windshield. (2/8/19\_Tr.66:25-67:3, 72:2-8,

73:14-22; 2/11/19\_Tr.34:11-15, 61:15-22; 2/13/19\_Tr.70:3-18, 79:4-5).

Knowing he would likely be arrested in connection with the Seymour incident, Davis was anxious to get his child to a safe place. Having forgotten his cell phones at a cousin's house a few days earlier, he drove to the homes of various family members but no one was home. At around 1:00pm, he dropped the child off at a friend's house, asking the friend to call Davis's mother to pick up the child. (2/11/19\_Tr.25:25-26:22, 56:4-10, 57:1-59:24, 64:18-22, 118:9-119:6, 133:7-12; 2/13/19\_Tr.74:19-80:1).

Davis drove his Hummer to a somewhat remote location on his parents' property, parking it between a cornfield and timber line. Davis testified he hid out there because he knew he would eventually have to go to jail for the Seymour incident, but he was not ready to face it yet. His parents confirmed this was typical behavior for Davis--since he was a child he had often gone off by himself for a day or two to think

about things. (2/11/19\_Tr.132:15-133:1; 2/13/19\_Tr.39:13-18, 80:2-82:16, 86:1-9).

Davis remained in the Hummer until 5:00 or 6:00p.m. that evening before walking to the Jones Church, across the street east of the Davis farm. Davis remained at the church for several hours, praying and trying to come to terms with his situation, before walking back to the Hummer at around 11:00 or 11:30 p.m. (2/8/19\_Tr.76:4-8, 81:6-82:2; 2/13/19\_Tr.24:25-25:10, 40:19-41:11, 86:1-90:17, 97:10-98:1).

Davis slept in the Hummer Friday night, and when he woke early Saturday morning he walked to his parents' house to eat. He didn't see his parents, but found his cell phones on the dining table<sup>1</sup>. He sent a few quick text messages to his cousins, left the phones on the table and walked back to the Hummer. He left the phones because he knew his parents would be "blowing [his phone] up" with calls and texts, and he

---

<sup>1</sup> Davis's cousin had dropped them off at the house Friday evening. (2/11/19\_Tr.27:20-28:12).

wasn't ready to face them or the situation yet.

(2/13/19\_Tr.90:18-92:11).

He remained at the parked Hummer until Saturday evening when he walked back to the house and called his cousins and parents, who joined him at the house. Davis openly told them what occurred in Seymour. With his family's encouragement, Davis decided to turn himself in.

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