IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-0453

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ETHAN L. DAVIS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR APPANOOSE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE MYRON L. GOOKIN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

SUSAN C. SCIESZINSKI
Appanoose County Attorney

SCOTT A. BROWN
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

Frei, 831 N.W.2d at 78–79. Davis is certainly right that “*Frei* also made explicit that this was not the *only* correct formulation.” See Def’s Br. at 57 (citing *Frei*, 831 N.W.2d at 79 n.7). But it is correct, and that is all that matters. See *Tabor*, 2011 WL 238427, at *2–3. Davis does not argue that *Frei* is wrong, so his claim cannot prevail.

Davis argues that providing multiple explanations or definitions of reasonable doubt would make the instruction even *more* correct. *See* Def’s Br. at 60–64. But many prominent jurists disagree. In *Victor*, Justice Blackmun and Justice Ginsburg each expressed concerns that “the ‘hesitate to act’ language is far from helpful, and may in fact make matters worse by analogizing the decision whether to convict or acquit a defendant to the frequently high-risk personal decisions people must make in their daily lives.” *See Victor*, 511 U.S. at 34–35 (Blackmun, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (citing *Victor*, 511 U.S. at 24–25 (Ginsburg, J., concurring in part and in the judgment)). The Indiana Supreme Court recommends that Indiana trial courts use a “firmly convinced” instruction, “preferably with no supplementation or embellishment.” *See Winegeart v. State*, 665 N.E.2d 893, 901–02 (Ind. 1996). Both the Connecticut Supreme Court and the New Jersey Supreme Court have urged the use of model language that provides a “firmly convinced” definition, without any mention of hesitation. *See State v. Jackson*, 925 A.2d 1060, 1069–70 & n.6 (Conn. 2007) (citing *State v. Medina*, 685 A.2d 1242, 1251–52 (N.J. 1996)). The Arizona Supreme Court held that “[a]llowing varying definitions” of this tenet “detracts from the goal of a uniform and equal system of justice”—so

it crafted a model instruction using “firmly convinced” language, and it commanded Arizona trial courts to stop using “the multiple and varying definitions courts have developed over the years, some of which justify the criticism that definitions can distort its meaning.” See *State v. Portillo*, 898 P.2d 970, 973–74 (Ariz. 1995); accord *Himple v. State*, 647 A.2d 1240, 1243 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1994) (“[T]he risk of reversal arises when an instruction departs from the pattern instruction and the risk of reversal increases with the degree of departure from that pattern instruction.”). And Iowa courts, too, have been warned not to “innovate” in defining reasonable doubt:

Whatever their value in other areas of the law in adding zest or currency to otherwise all too predictable proceedings, personal variations on elements such as reasonable doubt seldom represent sound judicial practice. A common effect of such variations is to excite both controversy and appellate litigation without any offsetting assurance that the attempted clarification is either necessary or successful. . . . [W]e share the concern of those courts which, although tolerating similar instructions, had disapproved of them as flirting unnecessarily with an impermissible lessening of the government’s burden of proof. We therefore suggest that district courts in this circuit refrain in the future from going outside of the consistently approved stock of charges on reasonable doubt with variations such as the one employed here.

See *State v. McGranahan*, 206 N.W.2d 88, 92 (Iowa 1973) (quoting *United States v. MacDonald*, 455 F.2d 1259, 1263 (1st Cir. 1972)).

Thus, while the trial court had broad discretion to submit any of the acceptable definitions of reasonable doubt, its decision not to stray from the exact verbiage of the instruction that was approved in *Frei* was a prudent exercise of that discretion. *See Frei*, 831 N.W.2d at 79.

Davis claims that “research confirms” that “use of a differing but equally correct instruction can nevertheless generate a different outcome.” *See* Def’s Br. at 61–62. It is probably not possible to control for confounding effects of unique interactions among jurors in studies with small sample sizes. If measurable, such results would not create any right to demand submission of whichever definition might push jurors towards one party’s desired result. But to the extent that any measurable differential impact on deliberations might exist, available research tends to suggest that the “firmly convinced” instruction is uniquely effective at communicating the heightened burden of proof:

[T]he [firmly convinced] instructions produced a higher self-reported standard of reasonable doubt than the other four instruction conditions [including “real doubt means a hesitation”]. In addition, [firmly convinced] was the only instruction set that showed a significant increase in the self-reported standard of reasonable doubt from pre- to postdeliberation measurements in both the weak and strong cases. This finding suggests that the juries in this condition very probably identified the appropriate standard during their discussions.

See Irwin A. Horowitz, *Reasonable Doubt Instructions: Commonsense Justice and Standard of Proof*, 3 PSYCHOL. PUB. POL'Y & L. 285, 296 (1997), cited in *Frei*, 831 N.W.2d at 78. Davis quotes from an article by H. Richard Uviller to suggest that jurors need “parallel articulation” to understand the definition of reasonable doubt. See Def’s Br. at 60 (quoting H. Richard Uviller, *Acquitting the Guilty: Two Case Studies on Jury Misgivings and the Misunderstood Standard of Proof*, 2 CRIM. L.F. 1, 38 (1990)). But Davis requested an instruction defining reasonable doubt by reference to judgment of a “reasonable person,” rather than each juror’s own evaluation of the evidence. See Def’s Br. at 52. Uviller explains why such a “parallel articulation” is incorrect, and he describes how it misled one juror into acquitting a murderer:

There are two possible ways of understanding the reasonable doubt standard as normally articulated to a jury by the judge presiding: the objective and the subjective. Under the objective understanding, if juror A concedes that juror B has a persistent, good-faith doubt based on the evidence, then juror A must vote “not guilty” even though she does not share juror B’s doubt. Even if jurors conclude only that some imaginary, conscientious juror might entertain some doubt concerning the defendant’s guilt, the objective view would acknowledge a reasonable doubt in the case and require the jury to acquit though none of them actually doubts the defendant’s guilt.

Under the subjective interpretation, the question is first whether an individual juror, carefully weighing all the evidence and giving due consideration to the views of fellow jurors, personally doubts the guilt of the defendant.

If this step produces a subjective sense of doubt in a juror's mind, the juror must ask himself the next question: whether the doubt is reasonable. Under this subjective reading, if a juror personally has no reasonable doubt, then notwithstanding the imperfections in the proof that might give others reason for doubt, the juror should vote "guilty."

I asked [juror] April Chamberlain which of these two she thought was the correct understanding and which she thought her jury had applied. Without hesitation, she chose the objective. It might have been a critical misunderstanding.

[. . .]

[The subjective version] correctly reflects a basic tenet of the jury system: after listening receptively to one another, each juror must use her or his own judgment to reach a personal conclusion. . . . [I]f the proof as a whole convinces a juror to the point of virtual or "moral" certainty, that juror should vote—and continue to vote—for conviction. Is it conceivable that one can appreciate that others might reasonably entertain a doubt where one feels moral certainty? I hope so, for that is the assumption of the law of verdicts.

Perhaps, in a fair-minded person, to recognize that another's cause for doubt is completely reasonable is to share it. And once that reason for doubt is assimilated into one's own belief system, it becomes (under the appropriate subjective view) a doubt that undermines belief and should generate a "not guilty" vote But the contradiction left April Chamberlain confused and uncomfortable; she had voted to acquit a person she "believed" was guilty of a deliberate and unprovoked murder. That, to her, was a verdict contrary to her judgment.

See Uviller, 2 CRIM. L.F. at 34–37. Here, the court was right to reject Davis's request because his instruction gave an objective definition of reasonable doubt, which threatened to confuse and mislead the jury.

Davis suggests that, as the defendant whose liberty is at stake, he should get to choose the instructions. *See* Def’s Br. at 62–63. But the State is also entitled to a fair trial. *See State v. Case*, 75 N.W.2d 233, 240 (Iowa 1956). And “[i]t is the trial court’s duty to see that a jury has a clear and intelligent understanding of what it is to decide.” *See Sonnek*, 522 N.W.2d at 47. This is especially true when trial courts must guard against post-trial allegations that ineffective assistance of defendant’s counsel undermined confidence in the verdict, through a request for a flawed model jury instruction. *See State v. Robinson*, 859 N.W.2d 464, 490 (Iowa 2015) (Wiggins, J., concurring specially) (“We do not preapprove or give a presumption of correctness to the instructions published by the ISBA. . . . [W]e can never delegate the formulation of the law to the instruction committee.”); *Chamberlain*, 2018 WL 6719730, at *7–8 (finding trial counsel was ineffective and reversing kidnapping conviction because the trial court submitted the ISBA model jury instruction that defined elements of kidnapping). The centrality of the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt to a criminal prosecution demands special attention from the trial court. It is not a minor nicety that can be conceded out of sportsmanship, nor a proper object of strategic gamesmanship from defense counsel.

Finally, Davis relies on *Porter v. Iowa Power & Light Co.* and argues that it is reversible error to refuse a request for an instruction that “amplifies” a concept that is explained in other instructions. *See* Def’s Br. at 55–57, 63–64 (citing *Porter v. Iowa Power & Light Co.*, 217 N.W.2d 221, 234–35 (Iowa 1974)). But this misrepresents the holding of *Porter*: refusing to submit an “amplifying” instruction is only reversible error where the “principle of law” that it would define is “not covered by other instructions.” *See Porter*, 217 N.W.2d 234–35. This includes specifications of negligence that identify a specific duty that other instructions have not identified. *See id.* However, for other requested instructions that aligned with already-present instructions (and presumably would have amplified them further), *Porter* held that denying a request to submit them was not reversible error:

Plaintiff’s requested instructions 9, 11 and 12 all related to principles which we find were substantially incorporated in the court’s instructions. When the matters raised in a requested instruction are so covered, ‘no error results from a failure to submit the issues in the form requested.’

See id. (citing *McCarthy v. J. P. Cullen & Son Corp.*, 199 N.W.2d 362, 367–68 (Iowa 1972)). Consequently, Iowa cases applying *Porter* hold that it is not reversible error to refuse requests for instructions that are “adequately encompassed elsewhere in the instructions.” *See, e.g.*,

Eisenhauer ex rel. T.D. v. Henry County Health Center, 935 N.W.2d 1, 10–16 (Iowa 2019). Thus, it cannot be reversible error to submit the *Frei* instruction that “adequately expressed . . . the extent of certitude the jury must possess to convict a defendant of a crime in this state.” *See Frei*, 831 N.W.2d at 79. Therefore, Davis’s challenge fails.

III. Davis cannot identify any ruling that could amount to reversible error during his counsel’s closing argument.

Preservation of Error

As Davis’s counsel began to talk about reasonable doubt in his closing argument, the State objected to “language that’s on this particular slide” that was “not the proper instruction.” *See TrialTr.V7 53:9–12*. Counsel for both parties approached for a bench conference, off the record. After that, Davis’s counsel resumed by discussing the “firmly convinced” standard for reasonable doubt—but no ruling on the objection appears in the transcript. *See TrialTr.V7 53:9–54:2*. Davis’s motion for new trial and the State’s resistance both reference a ruling on that objection. *See Motion for New Trial (3/8/19) at 1–2; App. 10–11; Resistance (3/15/19) at 2; App. 14*. But it is unclear what this ruling said, and what it directed counsel to do (or not to do). And the ruling on Davis’s motion for new trial did not mention or rule on this claim, beyond the instructional challenge. *See Sent.Tr. 3:12–6:19*.

“It is defendant’s obligation to provide this court with a record which affirmatively discloses the error upon which he relies.” *State v. Ryder*, 315 N.W.2d 786, 788 (Iowa 1982) (quoting *State v. Mark*, 286 N.W.2d 396, 402 (Iowa 1979)); accord *Mumm v. Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hosp.*, 924 N.W.2d 512, 520 (Iowa 2019). It is impossible to assess the rationale or scope of this unknown ruling, and this Court should not entertain this allegation of unascertainable error.

Standard of Review

If review were possible, review of a ruling on “[t]he scope of closing arguments” would be for abuse of discretion. See *State v. Melk*, 543 N.W.2d 297, 301 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995).

Merits

Davis argues that he should have been permitted to describe reasonable doubt with definitional terms that differed from the instruction selected by the trial court and submitted to the jury. See Def’s Br. at 67–68. Logically, either he is wrong, or error is harmless. If counsel would have described reasonable doubt in a way that would have changed its meaning, the trial court would be right to disallow it. See, e.g., *State v. Clay*, 824 N.W.2d 488, 497–98 (Iowa 2012) (noting counsel “can argue the law, but cannot instruct the jury on the law”);

State v. Mayes, 286 N.W.2d 387, 392 (Iowa 1979) (“[C]ounsel is bound, in such arguments, by the trial court’s determination of the law and is well-advised to acknowledge that the judge will be the one who instructs on the law. It is not proper argument to read from a law book.”). On the other hand, if the court directed counsel to say “firmly convinced” in place of other verbiage that carried equivalent meaning, any error would be harmless. Counsel could still advance a view of the evidence where such doubt existed—indeed, he did. *See* TrialTr.V7 52:24–55:9. Either this unknown ruling was correct, or it changed nothing.

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